STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Georgetown County  
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

DOMINIC A. LEGGETTE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001793

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED  
MAR 13 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to the jury instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence Petitioner shot the decedent in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation, rather the evidence showed Petitioner either acted with malice or in self-defense, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because, after deliberating for nearly twelve hours and receiving an Allen charge, the jury compromised and found Petitioner guilty of voluntarily manslaughter?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2008, Petitioner, who was nineteen, lived in uptown Andrews, South Carolina. Al Ingram and Antonio Tisdale, the decedent, lived on Jones Avenue on the westside of Andrews. There had been a long lived feud between individuals who lived in uptown Andrews and those who lived on the westside of town. App. 204, l. 3 – 205, l. 3. About a year before the shooting, there was an altercation between individuals from uptown and those from the westside at a club called Take a Break. According to Ingram, both Petitioner and Ingram were a part of this altercation. Petitioner was “helping his people” and Ingram was helping his own. App. 233, ll. 9-22. Over the course of the next year, there were multiple confrontations that occurred between the two groups, including “a couple of lynchings” and “jumpings.” App. 335, ll. 1-7. Petitioner’s group was usually outnumbered, but they would “lick [their] wounds and . . . go on about [their] business.” App. 335, ll. 18-20.

On Saturday, August 9, 2008, Ingram and about eight people from the westside had a physical altercation with Petitioner and some of his “associates” at the Take a Break club. App. 234, l. 13 – 235, l. 2; App. 334, l. 22 – 339, l. 7. Two days later, on August 11, 2008, individuals from the two sides had another confrontation at the Arbor Place Apartments. App. 234, ll. 5-9; App. 235, ll. 3-8; App. 339, l. 10 – 340, l. 5. As a result of these prior altercations, particularly the incident that occurred on August 11, 2008, Petitioner feared Ingram. He was also aware that Ingram had a “prior weapons charge.” App. 340, ll. 1-15.

On Wednesday, August 13, 2008, Petitioner was at the Arbor Place Apartments when his girlfriend called him and asked him to bring her his phone charger at Carnell’s, a club about one hundred yards from the apartments. Carnell’s was located next door to Blue’s, another nightclub. At first, Petitioner refused because he had “an iffy feeling.” He had “a messed up feeling that

something was going to happen” because, while Carnell’s and Blue’s were in uptown Andrews where Petitioner lived, individuals from the westside and Jones Avenue “tend to be up there.” App. 342, ll. 8-18. However, his girlfriend insisted Petitioner bring her the charger and he agreed. App. 342, ll. 18-20.

Petitioner and Leron Gardner walked the approximately one hundred yards from the Arbor Place Apartments to Carnell’s. As they were walking, Petitioner showed Gardner a gun he had concealed around his waistline. Petitioner bought the gun for protection after the altercation two nights before because he “was scared of Mr. Ingram.” App. 342, l. 22 – 343, l. 4. As they walked passed Blue’s, Petitioner saw individuals from the westside and Jones Avenue. He quickly “moved away from them.” When he got to Carnell’s, his girlfriend was at the door waiting for him. He handed her the phone charger and briefly talked to her. App. 344, l. 14 – 345, l. 2.

As Petitioner was talking to his girlfriend, several individuals confronted him. He was scared and “knew [he] was going to get jumped.” App. 345, ll. 2-21. At that time, Antonio Tisdale and Al Ingram drove by in a car and one of the individuals who confronted Petitioner flagged Ingram down and told him Petitioner was there. Petitioner immediately walked away and called his cousin to come pick him up from the Super Chic, a convenience store next door. App. 346, ll. 7-17. As Petitioner was walking towards Super Chic, he heard running footsteps behind him and someone say, “What’s up now?” App. 346, ll. 11-24. When he turned around, Ingram and Tisdale were approximately three feet behind him. App. 346, l. 19 – 347, l. 1. He saw Ingram reach towards his waist. Because Petitioner knew Ingram was “known for carrying guns,” he “automatically thought” Ingram was “reaching for a gun.” Petitioner pulled out his gun, fired two to three times, and ran. App. 347, ll. 3-25.

Leron Gardner, who was with Petitioner that night, testified consistent with Petitioner. He said as soon as he and Petitioner arrived at Carnell's "a bunch of people just rushed up on us out of nowhere." App. 276, ll. 4-12. Gardner was scared. He testified that Petitioner immediately "took off running" towards Super Chic. Ingram and Tisdale ran after Petitioner. Gardner heard gunshots. App. 276, ll. 10-21; App. 280, ll. 13-23. After the gunshots, Ingram and Tisdale came running back. Tisdale lifted up his shirt and said, "Dominic [Petitioner] shot me." App. 278, ll. 12-25.

Al Ingram also testified consistent with Petitioner and Gardner. Ingram claimed that as soon as he arrived at Carnell's and Blue's with Tisdale, he saw "words being exchanged with people from my side of town and Dominic Leggette [Petitioner]." App. 204, ll. 11-16. However, he did not hear what was said. App. 228, ll. 8-12. As Ingram was approaching, one of his friends exclaimed, "Al [Ingram], there goes Dominic [Petitioner]." App. 229, ll. 5-8. According to Ingram, as soon as Petitioner saw Ingram, Petitioner began to walk away towards Super Chic. App. 205, ll. 22-24; App. 208, ll. 7-12; App. 209, ll. 14-16; App. 229, ll. 19-22. Ingram admitted he and Tisdale followed behind Petitioner. However, he claimed the two were "never following him." Rather, they were merely walking to Super Chic to buy cigarettes. App. 209, l. 14 – 210, l. 1; App. 229, ll. 23-25.

As Ingram and Tisdale were walking behind Petitioner, Petitioner suddenly turned around and started shooting. App. 210, ll. 2-14. Neither Ingram nor Tisdale said anything to Petitioner before the shooting. Neither of them were armed or pulled any type of weapon. Ingram testified that Petitioner "maybe said two or three words to us but [he] didn't hear . . . exactly what he said." App. 210, ll. 15-22; App. 212, l. 22 – 213, l. 10. Petitioner shot "three to four times" and then ran. App. 212, ll. 4-11; App. 215, ll. 4-16.

After the shooting, Tisdale and Ingram ran back towards Carnell's and Blue's where Tisdale's car was parked. As they were running, Ingram told Tisdale that Petitioner shot him. Tisdale said Petitioner shot him too. App. 217, ll. 13. Tisdale eventually collapsed. App. 217, ll. 14-18. Tisdale was shot in the chest and died from his injuries. App. 197, l. 18 – 198, l. 1. Ingram was shot in the ankle. App. 218, ll. 8-14.

Jamar Mitchum, Antonio Tisdale's brother, testified for the state. Mitchum was at Blue's when Tisdale was shot. He saw Petitioner walk passed Blue's, where Mitchum was standing outside, "to meet a girl at Carnell's." Ingram and Tisdale decided to talk to Super Chic to buy cigarettes. The two were walking behind Petitioner. Mitchum testified that he heard gunshots, and saw Ingram fall to the ground. Ingram and Tisdale then came running back to Blue's. When Tisdale reached Mitchum he said, "Miles [Mitchum], carry me to the hospital. Dominic [Petitioner] just shot me." Tisdale then collapsed. App. 285, l. 17 – 286, l. 7. Mitchum maintained there was "no argument and no fight" before the shooting. Everyone "was just standing around." App. 286, ll. 8-18; App. 287, ll. 2-12. He heard no loud voices or any sort of altercation. App. 291, l. 19 – 292, l. 13.

Craig Jackson also testified for the state. He was outside Carnell's talking to friends. There were a lot of people standing around, but no one was being rowdy or loud. App. 304, l. 2 – 305, l. 5. He heard someone say, "That's Dominic [Petitioner] right there." Ingram and Tisdale then began to follow Petitioner towards Super Chic. Jackson thought he was "about to see a fight." He eventually saw Petitioner turn around and start shooting. Petitioner shot three or four times. Ingram and Tisdale fell to the ground and then began running back towards Carnell's and Blue's. Tisdale stopped by Jackson and said, "Dominic [Petitioner] shot me." He then collapsed. App. 301, l. 12 – 302, l. 16; App. 305, l. 6 – 306, l. 2. Before the shooting, Jackson

never heard Petitioner say anything. He also never heard Ingram or Tisdale say anything. He testified, “Nobody wasn’t saying anything.” App. 306, l. 12 – 307, l. 9.

The trial judge charged the jury with the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. See App. 422, l. 17 – 424, l. 3. Trial counsel did not object to the charge.

The jury struggled to reach a verdict. During its deliberations, the jury asked to rehear testimony from Al Ingram, Jamar Mitchum, and Petitioner. They also asked to be recharged on voluntary manslaughter and self-defense. App. 439, l. 15 – 473, l. 14. After nine hours of deliberation, the jury informed the judge that it was deadlocked. The judge gave the jury an Allen<sup>1</sup> charge. App. 473, l. 21 – 476, l. 25. Approximately two and a half hours later, the jury returned with a compromised verdict acquitting Petitioner of murder but finding him guilty of voluntary manslaughter. App. 477, l. 12 – 479, l. 20.

A Georgetown County grand jury indicted Petitioner on November 12, 2008 for murder and assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 674-677. His case was called to trial on March 29, 2010 before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, and a jury. App. 1. Deputy Solicitor Scott Hixson represented the state, and Ronald Hazzard represented Petitioner. App. 1.

On April 1, 2010, the jury acquitted Petitioner of murder and assault and battery with intent to kill, but found him guilty of the lesser included offenses of voluntary manslaughter and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). App. 479, ll. 8-20. The judge sentenced Appellant to thirty years for voluntarily manslaughter and ten years concurrent for ABHAN. App. 496, ll. 4-10; App. 678-679.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. On appeal, Petitioner, who was represented by Appellate Defender LaNelle Durant, argued:

---

<sup>1</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

The trial court erred in denying Leggette's directed verdict motion when the state did not disprove self-defense pursuant to State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998).

App. 503.

In an unpublished opinion filed March 28, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence. State v. Leggette, Op. No. 2012 UP-203 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 28, 2012); App. 527-529. Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court on August 29, 2012. App. 540-554. This Court denied the petition by order dated May 7, 2014. App. 566.

On May 21, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 567-573. The state filed a return to this application dated February 23, 2016. App. 574-579. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 9, 2016 before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. App. 580. Assistant Attorney General Jessica Kinard represented the state, and Steven Fowler represented Petitioner. App. 580.

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction on voluntarily manslaughter as a lesser included offense of murder because there was no evidence to support the charge. See App. 585, l. 1 – 587, l. 12. Ronald Hazzard, Petitioner's trial counsel, admitted he had previously "questioned whether I did a good enough job with the jury charges." App. 637, ll. 1-5; App. 647, l. 19 – 649, l. 1. Hazzard asserted that he "never felt they [the state] disproved self-defense" or "truly proved any guilt . . . beyond a reasonable doubt." App. 636, ll. 5-12. It was Hazzard's opinion that the jury compromised by finding Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter and ABHAN, both lesser included offenses. App. 636, ll. 12-16.

By order filed September 24, 2018, Judge Burch denied Petitioner relief. App. 656-673. Quoting State v. Smith, 363 S.C. 111, 115, 609 S.E.2d 528, 530 (Ct. App. 2005), the judge stated, “When the record contains no evidence to support it, a voluntary manslaughter charge should not be given.” App. 660. While the judge acknowledged trial counsel did not object to the jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter, he found a “review of the complete trial record shows that the voluntary manslaughter instruction was appropriate and supported by facts in the record.” App. 660. Consequently, the judge concluded Petitioner failed to prove deficient performance on the part of counsel, or any prejudice therefrom. App. 660.

Because Petitioner’s rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the jury instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter where there was no evidence to support the charge, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because, after deliberating for nearly twelve hours and receiving an Allen charge, the jury compromised and found Petitioner guilty of voluntarily manslaughter, this petition for writ of certiorari follows:

## ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to the jury instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence Petitioner shot the decedent in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation, rather the evidence showed Petitioner either acted with malice or in self-defense, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because, after deliberating for nearly twelve hours and receiving an *Allen* charge, the jury compromised and found Petitioner guilty of voluntarily manslaughter.

The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to the jury instruction on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence Appellant shot the decedent in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Rather, the evidenced showed Petitioner either acted with malice or in self-defense. Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because, after deliberating for nearly twelve hours and receiving an *Allen* charge, the jury compromised and found Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient" and fell below reasonable

professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

"Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation." State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010) (citing State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d. 786, 788 (2009)). "To warrant the court eliminating the charge of manslaughter, there must be no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter." Id. (citing Wharton, 381 S.C. at 214, 672 S.E.2d. at 788). "If there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed, the defendant is entitled to such charge." Id. (citing Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 371, 610 S.E.2d 812, 815 (2005)). "Whether a voluntary manslaughter charge is warranted turns on the facts. If the facts disclose any basis for the charge, the charge must be given." Id. at 597, 698 S.E.2d at 608.

In Starnes, 388 S.C. at 598-599, 698 S.E.2d at 609, this Court stated:

We also have held that fear resulting from an attack can constitute a basis for voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 549, 500 S.E.2d 489, 495 (1998) ("[F]ear can constitute a basis for voluntary manslaughter."). Yet the presence of fear does not end the inquiry regarding the propriety of a voluntary manslaughter instruction. **We have consistently held that sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation is defined as an act or event that "must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence."** Pittman, 373 S.C. at 572, 647 S.E.2d at 167.<sup>2</sup> While the act or event "need not dethrone the reason entirely, or shut out knowledge and volition," **it must cause a person to lose control.** Id.

---

<sup>2</sup> State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007).

We reaffirm the principle that a person's fear immediately following an attack or threatening act may cause the person to act in a sudden heat of passion. However, **the mere fact that a person is afraid is not sufficient, by itself, to entitle a defendant to a voluntary manslaughter charge. Consistent with our law on voluntary manslaughter, in order to constitute "sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation," the fear must be the result of sufficient legal provocation and *cause the defendant to lose control and create an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.*** Succinctly stated, to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, the defendant's fear must manifest itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.

A person may act in a deliberate, controlled manner, notwithstanding the fact that he is afraid or in fear. Conversely, a person can be acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence and be incapable of cool reflection as a result of fear. The latter situation constitutes sudden heat of passion, but the former does not. Evidence that fear caused a person to kill another person in a sudden heat of passion will mitigate a homicide from murder to manslaughter—it will not justify it. This is the distinction between voluntary manslaughter and self-defense.

Id. (emphasis added).

"In determining whether the act [that] caused death was impelled by heat of passion or by malice, all the surrounding circumstances and conditions are to be taken into consideration, including previous relations and conditions connected with the tragedy, as well as those existing at the time of the killing." State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011).

In Cook v. State, 415 S.C. 551, 555, 784 S.E.2d 665, 667 (2015), Cook objected to the state's request for a voluntary manslaughter instruction. The trial judge relied on the following facts in determining that a charge on voluntary manslaughter was supported by the evidence: (1) the defendant was in fear, (2) he shot the decedent twice, and (3) he stated "before I knew it, I fired a shot." Id. at 557, 784 S.E.2d at 668. However, this Court held Cook's actions did not suggest he was acting in the sudden heat of passion. Id. at 559, 784 S.E.2d at 669. The Court explained, "We do not believe the fact that Cook shot Victim twice or his statement 'before I

knew it, I fired a shot’ is evidence that Cook’s fear manifested in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” Id. at 558, 784 S.E.2d at 668. This Court also stated,

Here, Cook stated he tried to walk away from Victim, but Victim kept cutting him off. The fact that Cook was trying to walk away from the conflict does not suggest Cook was incapable of cooling off. In addition, Bridges testified that Cook and Victim were talking softly and that he could hardly tell they were arguing. This too does not suggest that Cook was acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence as surely if one was so enraged to kill, one would not be talking softly with the victim right before the act. Further, at no point during Cook’s statement does he indicate he lacked control over his actions. Accordingly, we believe the facts of this case suggest Cook shot Victim either with malice or in self-defense.

Id. at 557, 784 S.E.2d at 668. The Court also noted there was no physical altercation involved. Id. at 559, 784 S.E.2d at 669.

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