RECEIVED

Nov 27 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Georgetown County
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Post-Conviction Relief Court Judge
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2018-001793
Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2023-001630

DOMINIC A. LEGGETTE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Assuming the voluntary jury charge issue is preserved for appellate review and a proper consideration in this PCR action, the court of appeals properly affirmed Judge Burch's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of establishing counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the voluntary manslaughter charge.

The court of appeals held Judge Burch correctly found the evidence at trial supported submitting the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter to the jury. The State submits the issue presented on appeal – ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to the voluntary manslaughter charge – is not preserved for appeal. Even if the issue is preserved and properly presented in this PCR action, however, Petitioner failed to meet his burden to overcome the presumption that trial counsel provided effective representation.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts defer to the post-conviction relief court's factual findings and will uphold them if supported by any evidence in the record. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 179–181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Further, the appellate courts afford great deference to the post-conviction relief court's credibility findings. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate courts will reverse the post-conviction relief court if its decision is controlled by an error of law. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

A. Preservation

The State submits it is highly questionable that the issue as raised by Petitioner in his Petition for Writ of Certiorari is preserved for review on appeal. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner maintained counsel was ineffective for failing to object to his **conviction** for voluntary

manslaughter because he was only indicted for murder, and Petitioner did not recognize voluntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense.⁶ (Appendix, pp. 585-587, 615-616).

This interpretation of the issue as presented to, and understood by, Judge Burch is evidenced by the issue caption in Judge Burch's Order of Dismissal: "Failure to Object to **Conviction** for Voluntary Manslaughter." (emphasis added). Judge Burch noted: "Applicant attested that murder and voluntary manslaughter are different things, and took issue with being convicted of voluntary manslaughter when he was indicted for murder." Additionally, the Judge Burch explained: "Applicant offered no reason why voluntary manslaughter should not have been charged, and appears to not recognize it as a lesser-included offense of murder."⁷ Judge Burch concluded the evidence at trial supported a voluntary manslaughter jury charge, but did not reference any specific evidence on the issue. (Appendix, pp. 659-660).

In connection with the State's preservation argument, the court of appeals noted neither Petitioner nor the State asked trial counsel about strategy in connection with the voluntary manslaughter jury charge. The court of appeals then astutely observed that requesting a voluntary manslaughter charge "would have been a legitimate strategic attempt to mitigate the consequences of the sentence Petitioner faced on the murder charge if the jury were to reject his theory of self-

⁶Petitioner testified he felt trial counsel "should have asked for voluntary manslaughter charge," and "should have motioned for involuntary manslaughter when it came to Tisdale." (Appendix, pp. 615-615). Petitioner's testimony contradicts any implication Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for **not** objecting to the voluntary manslaughter jury charge.

⁷Petitioner emphasizes that Judge Burch found Petitioner proceeded on "broad allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel without objection by the State" as evidence the issue he raises on appeal is preserved. (Petition, p. 13). Judge Burch's finding must be viewed in light of what "broad" issues Petitioner actually raised at the PCR hearing rather than affording Petitioner *carte blanche* to raise any issue on appeal. Petitioner raised specific issues in his testimony that were "broad" only in the way Petitioner testified about them. Judge Burch addressed each of those issues individually, including the failure to object to Petitioner's conviction of voluntary manslaughter.

defense, as it ultimately did,” and challenging the charge “would have been a huge risk in light of Petitioner’s very contradictory statements to law enforcement and his decision to obtain an illegal firearm and go out that night - armed - despite his escalating beef with Ingram and his anticipation that ‘something was going to happen.’” (Supp. Appendix, pp. 7-8, n. 5). As discussed below, this strategy discussion is very significant to the analysis of an ineffective assistance of counsel determination, which is the only appropriate analysis applicable to this case.

On appeal from Judge Burch’s Order, Petitioner solely challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter jury charge —a different issue than raised at the hearing as evidenced by Judge Burch’s framing of the issue before him. As a result, the issue Petitioner raised is not properly preserved for review. See, e.g., State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one ground is raised to the trial court and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

B. Merits

Even if preserved and properly presented in this PCR action, Petitioner’s contentions regarding the voluntary manslaughter jury charge fail on the merits when viewed in light of the applicable PCR framework and law. In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

1. Burden of Proof

When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he must prove “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the

trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Butler at 815-816. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Id.*

The court must then determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance. In making that determination, the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. At the same time, the court should recognize that counsel is **strongly presumed** to have rendered adequate assistance and **made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment**.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (emphasis added); *see also* Butler at 815-816 (same).

A PCR applicant must overcome the **presumption** of adequate assistance to receive relief. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; *see also* Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

In this case, Petitioner bears the burden to establish ineffective assistance of counsel and overcome the presumption that trial counsel provided adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions, including decisions regarding whether to request or oppose a voluntary manslaughter jury charge. In the face of that burden, Petitioner presented **no** evidence indicating who even requested the voluntary manslaughter jury charge, much less that trial counsel failed to exercise reasonable professional judgment regarding the jury

charge.⁸ “[T]he absence of evidence cannot overcome the strong presumption that counsel’s conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” Burt v. Titlow, 571 U.S. 12, 23 (2013) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted).

The court of appeals’ strategy discussion in n. 5 of its opinion bears directly on the merits of Petitioner’s purported claim as to the voluntary manslaughter jury charge. The court outlined how either requesting the voluntary manslaughter charge, or not objecting to one proposed by the State, would have been a legitimate strategy to mitigate the consequences of a murder conviction if the jury rejected the self-defense theory (which it ultimately did). Given the **presumption** of effective assistance required in PCR cases, absent evidence to the contrary, the court of appeals’ strategy analysis conclusively requires affirmance of Judge Burch’s finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to show ineffective assistance of counsel or prejudice relating to the voluntary manslaughter conviction.⁹ See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (“defendant must overcome the presumption that under the circumstances, the challenged action ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’”).

⁸The court of appeals noted that neither Petitioner nor the State asked trial counsel about the voluntary manslaughter jury charge, so trial counsel was “not able to explain why he failed to object to the instruction – if it was a failure at all.” (Supp. Appendix, p. 7, n. 5). Since Petitioner, not the State, has the burden to overcome the presumption of effective assistance, his failure to even question trial counsel about the jury charge clearly indicates the jury charge was not the focus of Petitioner’s allegations.

⁹Petitioner attempts to bootstrap a single comment trial counsel made during sentencing about recklessness into evidence that trial counsel “misunderstood the law of voluntary manslaughter,” and therefore, failure to object to the voluntary manslaughter jury charge “could not have been based on a valid strategic decision.” (Pet, p. 10, n. 2). When read in context, however, trial counsel’s recklessness comment was an effort to mitigate the sentence by differentiating the facts of the case from other cases of voluntary manslaughter. (Appendix, p. 486). Even if the comment was inartful mitigation argument, it does not lead to the conclusion trial counsel misunderstood the law and could not have made trial decisions based on a valid strategy.

2. Sufficiency of the Evidence

If sufficiency of the evidence to support the voluntary manslaughter jury charge is relevant in light of Petitioner's complete failure to present any evidence trial counsel was deficient, Judge Burch found there was evidence in the trial record supporting a jury charge of voluntary manslaughter. (Appendix, pp. 659-660). In affirming Judge Burch's finding, the court of appeals detailed the trial evidence supporting submission of the lesser-included voluntary manslaughter offense to the jury.¹⁰ (Supp. Appendix, pp. 10-11).

"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). The offense of manslaughter should be eliminated only when it very clearly appears "there is **no** evidence whatever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter." Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991) (quoting State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 168 S.E.2d 564, 565 (1969)) (emphasis added). The manslaughter charge is warranted if "there is **any evidence** from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed." State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010) (emphasis added).

Petitioner's discussion of case law on the issue of whether a voluntary manslaughter jury charge was appropriate in this case engages in the same type of factual comparison analysis this Court addressed in Starnes, stating such an analysis "takes our case law and turns primarily fact-driven holdings into broad statements of law." Starnes, 698 S.E.2d at 608. Notably, all the cited cases arose from direct appeal issues regarding the sufficiency of the evidence to support giving

¹⁰ The court of appeals stated: "We acknowledge the question of whether Petitioner acted in a sudden heat of passion is a close one." If the question was indeed a "close one," it was a question for jury determination, and not indicative of ineffective assistance of counsel.

or denying a voluntary manslaughter jury charge request, not ineffective assistance of counsel.¹¹

To the extent discussion of the evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter jury charge and Petitioner's conviction on that charge is necessary in this PCR context, there was evidence at trial to support it.¹² The trial testimony established there was an ongoing feud between rival groups with Petitioner on one side and the victims on the other. There were prior physical confrontations between Petitioner and Ingram, including one occurring mere days before the shooting. Petitioner himself testified he was sufficiently concerned about the possibility of trouble at the bar the night of the shooting that he armed himself with a gun he had illegally obtained.

When Petitioner and Gardner arrived at the bar, they were confronted by numerous individuals, and Petitioner indicated the group of men formed a semi-circle in front of him and he already knew he was going to get "jumped." (Appendix, p. 345). See State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 573, 647 S.E.2d 144, 168 (2007) (recognizing "an overt, threatening act or physical encounter may constitute sufficient legal provocation") (emphasis added). Petitioner and other witnesses testified that when Ingram and Tisdale arrived at the bar someone told them Petitioner was there. Petitioner walked away and both victims followed him.¹³ One witness testified he continued watching as they walked down the street because he believed there was going to be a fight.

¹¹Even in Cook v. State, 415 S.C. 551, 784 S.E.2d 665 (2015), the voluntary manslaughter issue was addressed in the context of a direct appeal granted in a PCR proceeding pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). Cook, 784 S.E.2d at 666.

¹² Petitioner's claim that the State failed "to identify any evidence of legal provocation," but "merely made conclusory statements that sufficient legal provocations existed" ignores the State's specific references to the record and discussion of the circumstances surrounding the shooting. The fact Petitioner disagrees with the State's assessment of the evidence does not negate the State's argument.

¹³The testimony differed on when Ingram and Tisdale started in the same direction as Petitioner and how far behind Petitioner they were at the time of the shooting.

Petitioner's fear of being "jumped" again led him to leave the bar. He heard "running" footsteps coming up behind him, which caused him to be "frightened and fearful." Petitioner testified at trial that he heard one of the people running behind him call out, he turned and saw they were approximately three feet behind him. He claimed he saw Ingram reach toward his waistband and because Ingram was "known for carrying guns," Petitioner immediately pulled his gun and fired the fatal and wounding shots. Petitioner testified: "In that course of time I was already scared. I didn't know what to do." (Appendix, pp. 342-347, 351) (emphasis added).

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